PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK

NOVEMBER 18, 2025 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT)

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday,
November 18, 2025, at 1234 Market Street, 17" Floor Boardroom, Philadelphia, PA 19107, of which
proper notices were given. A condensed certified transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes
as Exhibit A.

Call to Order
The meeting was called to order at 10:10 am.

Ms. Imredy Saah announced that prior to the Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session,
during which Mr. Rodriguez gave an update on the Land Bank’s acquisition of properties at Sheriff’s
sales, indicating that the final anticipated acquisition was scheduled for the following day, November
19, 2025. She noted that the agenda was revised at the last minute to remove two items.

Ms. Imredy Saah then explained that the Board will first discuss each proposed disposition before
opening the floor to public comment. She explained that each speaker will be limited to two minutes,
with time strictly enforced due to the length of the agenda. She added that public comments will be
accepted by agenda item, and comments on matters not on the agenda should be held until the end of
the meeting.

Item I
Roll Call

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Angela Brooks, Nicholas Dema,
Cornelius Brown, Andrew Goodman, Rebecca Lopez-Kriss, Jenny Greenberg, Alex Balloon, Kelvin
Jeremiah, Darwin Beauvais, Maria Gonzalez, and Michael Johns.

No board members were absent from the Board meeting.

The following Land Bank staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq.,
Lily Bernadel, Esq., Cristina Martinez, Brian Romano, and Carolyn Terry.

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes.

Item II
Approval of Board Minutes

Vice Chair, Mr. Dema called for a motion to adopt the Board meeting minutes of September 9, 2025
and October 14, 2025.

Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the minutes. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Board meeting minutes
of September 9, 2025, and October 14, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 1 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 5 of 160



Item III
Executive Director’s Report

Mr. Rodriguez welcomed the two new Board members, Angela Brooks and Alexander Balloon. He
provided a brief update on the unified land use strategy plan, noting that it began two months ago and
is expected to be completed by spring or summer of 2026. He stated that the Land Bank operational
assessment has been completed and that outcomes will be discussed with the Board and made public
once a rollout plan is determined, potentially by the next Board meeting.

Mr. Rodriguez also reported that pursuant to Resolution No. 2023-32, he had administratively approved
an increase in the maximum sales price for eight (8) affordable homeownership units in the 2nd Council
District to be developed by Fine Print Construction. He shared that the price increased from $267,000
to $280,000 due to increased construction costs and difficult soil conditions on the sites. He noted that
the AMI requirement remains at 80%.

The Executive Director’s report is attached to these minutes as Exhibit B.

Item IV
Administrative

IV.A. Election of Board Chair

As Acting Chair, Mr. Dema moved the meeting to administrative matters and asked Ms. Saah to
proceed.

Ms. Saah stated that, following the departure of former Board Chair Herbert Wetzel, the Board solicited
nominations in accordance with the bylaws and received one nomination for Angela Brooks. She
explained that the election is uncontested and that the Board is being asked to elect Angela Brooks as
Chair until officer elections are held at the next Annual Meeting in August 2026.

Mr. Dema asked whether there were any Board questions or public comments. There were none.

Mr. Dema then requested a motion to elect the Board Chair.

Mr. Beauvais moved to elect Ms. Brooks as Board Chair, and Ms. Greenberg seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Appointing
Angela Brooks as Board Chair (attached to these minutes as Exhibit C).

IV.B. Substitution of Developer Entity

Mr. Dema turned the meeting over to the newly elected Chair, Angela Brooks.

Mr. Rodriguez requested Board approval for the substitution of separate special purpose entities as
developers for individual sites being developed by Fine Print Construction LLC, the approved
developer of mixed-income rental properties at several sites in the Second (2nd) Council District. He
noted that the disposition was approved by Board Resolution 2022-55 on December 13, 2022. The
request was made by the applicant, and the proposed new entities are: 2329 Ellsworth LLC; 2445
Federal LLC; 1709 Point Breeze LLC; 1711 Point Breeze LLC; and SUUDA-Kenyatta Bey LLC.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 2 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 6 of 160



Mr. Dema asked whether the substitution was essentially a name change with no change in principals.

Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that Board approval is required because the members of the original LLC
created a new entity for each building but confirmed that the principals of each new entity remain the
same.

With no questions from the Board and no written comments, Chair Brooks called for a motion to adopt
the resolution approving the developer substitution.

Mr. Johns moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Beauvais seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending
Resolution 2022-55 to Substitute Special Purpose Entities for Fine Print Construction, LL.C as
Developer of 2329 Ellsworth Street, 2445 Federal Street, 1709 Point Breeze Avenue, 1711 Point
Breeze Avenue, 1822-34 Rear Point Breeze Avenue, and 1836 Point Breeze Avenue (attached to
these minutes as Exhibit D).

Item V
Property Dispositions

V.A.1. Development — Affordable Housing (RFP) — Francisville Ogden et al — Francisville
Commons 1, LLC

Mr. Rodriguez requested Board approval to convey 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 and 1610 Ogden
Street; 863 N. 15th Street; and 841, 845 and 851 N. 16th Street (CD 5) to Francisville Commons 1
LLC to develop ten single-family homes. He stated that the homes will be approximately 1,200 square
feet, sold to households at or below 100% of AMI for up to $280,000, and eligible for the Turn the Key
program. He added that the minority-owned, PHDC-approved developer was selected through an RFP,
met all requirements, held community meetings without objection, and is in attendance.

Mr. Johns encouraged the developer to raise basement levels above grade to allow for more natural
light and reduce flooding risks.

Mr. Goodman agreed, adding that since most nearby homes appear to be three stories rather than two,
increasing the height would help the proposed homes better fit the neighborhood context.

Ms. Imredy Saah stated that the Land Bank received seventeen (17) public comments and a petition
with approximately 600 signatures opposing development of 1544 and 1546 Ogden Street and
requesting that the lots remain as community open space. She noted that the site is not a licensed garden
and there is no formal agreement for its use. All written comments received are attached to these
minutes as Exhibit E).

Mr. Jeremiah asked how the two Ogden Street lots differ from the parcels proposed by Fifth District
Councilmember Young as an alternative garden site. Ms. Saah responded that she was not aware of

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 3 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 7 of 160



the details, understood the alternative site to be 1438 Poplar Street, and noted that such discussions
occur between the Council office and the residents, not the Land Bank.

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether excluding the two parcels would impact the developer’s plans.

Mr. Rodriguez responded that the project resulted from an RFP issued in coordination with the Council
office, and changing the inventory at this stage would be unfair to other applicants who did not have
the opportunity to propose on a different set of parcels. He added that the inventory was reviewed with
the Council office prior to issuance of the RFP.

Ms. Brooks invited the Council office representative to speak before moving on to members of the
public who had signed up to speak on this particular agenda item.

Mr. Crosley identified himself as representing the Fifth Council District and stated that the Council
office fully supports the proposal. Ms. Brooks thanked him.

Mr. Michael Katz, a resident of the community, stated that he chose to live near the community garden
and values it as an important space for connection, recreation, and neighborhood life. He expressed
concern that removing a long-standing garden in favor of development overlooks the role green space
plays in building community and urged consideration of its impact alongside the need for housing.

Mr. Brown asked whether an application had been submitted for use of the garden. Mr. Rodriguez
responded that, in the Fifth Council District, the priority for certain areas has consistently been
affordable housing, so side yard or garden agreements were not available, and this policy did not
change between Council administrations.

Ms. Ashley Knueppel, a resident of the community, explained that she and her husband cleaned up the
Ogden Street lots in 2020 and helped create a community garden that is now widely used for
neighborhood events. She noted that the garden was never formally approved but emphasized strong
community support, citing a petition with over 600 signatures. She stated that she supports affordable
housing and the developer but requested that the two lots be removed from the project due to the
garden’s community value and lack of early community engagement.

Mr. Joe Deutschman, the block captain for 15th and Ogden Street, urged the Board to preserve the
garden if possible and raised concerns that the proposed two-story homes would not match the
surrounding four-story buildings, suggesting a three-story design instead. He also stated that the current
garden site is more visible and feels safer than the proposed alternative location, which he described
as less central and near abandoned buildings.

Mr. Brandon Burns, a nearby community member, expressed concern about developing housing on the
community garden, emphasizing the importance of preserving scarce urban green space. While voicing
support for affordable housing, he asked whether alternative sites could be considered given the lack
of other public open spaces in the neighborhood.

Mr. Spiller, a longtime Ogden Street resident, expressed support for workforce and affordable housing
but emphasized that the community garden is essential for neighborhood connection and local

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 4 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 8 of 160



businesses. He raised concerns about the safety and suitability of the proposed Poplar Street alternative
and urged the Board to explore creative options, such as swapping lots, to preserve the garden.

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether the community engaged with Councilmember Young about their
opposition. Mr. Deutschman responded that they did not meet directly with the Councilmember but
worked with Mr. Crosley to consider relocating the garden to 1438 Poplar Street with potential City
support. He stated this did not resolve concerns because the alternative site is less central, has lower
foot traffic, and presents safety issues.

Mr. Jeremy Blatstein voiced support for Councilmember Young and the development, stating that
informal garden use creates liability for the agency that owns the land and sets a poor precedent. He
emphasized that the RFP’s purpose is to return vacant lots to productive use for housing.

Mr. Jacob Pritchett acknowledged the value of community green spaces but urged the Board to
prioritize the City’s urgent need for affordable housing and avoid actions that would delay or prevent
its development.

Ms. Patricia DeCarlo stated that removing the garden is unfair given the community’s seven years of
maintenance and urged preserving the two lots while substituting other vacant parcels for development.

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked about the timeline if the lots were removed from the RFP. Mr. Rodriguez replied
that reissuing the RFP would take at least 30 days, plus additional community meetings, potentially
adding up to 60 days, and noted that the original RFP was posted sometime in early summer with
multiple community meetings held.

Mr. Goodman asked about neighborhood housing comparables for Turn the Key pricing. Mr. Rodriguez
stated that Turn the Key homes would be well below market, with nearby home prices around $400,000
to $500,000, and noted that he had not analyzed comparable vacant lots.

Mr. Johns asked whether the developer could voluntarily exclude a lot after Board approval. Mr.
Rodriguez responded that such a change is not part of the resolution and, if material, would require
returning to the Board and coordination with the Council office.

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether the developer had explored alternatives to preserve the garden. Mr.
Coleman of The Prime Corporation responded that he met with the community and Council and is
aware of the concerns, but explained that because the project resulted from an RFP, he has limited
ability to change it and any modifications would require Council review.

Ms. Brooks asked for further Board discussion.

Ms. Imredy Saah noted the Board could adopt the resolution or propose an alternative, but changes to
an RFP would effectively be a denial. Mr. Rodriguez cautioned that altering core RFP terms would
undermine the process, and Ms. Imredy Saah added that removing two lots would be a material change
requiring a new RFP.

Ms. Gonzalez urged better identification of informal gardens and earlier community—Council

coordination to avoid disruptions. Ms. Brooks emphasized City liability from unlicensed use and noted
this may be addressed in the land strategy. Mr. Rodriguez stated that an inventory review and Council

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 5 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 9 of 160



discussions occurred and that no party had a legal right to occupy the land. Ms. Greenberg added that
a clear licensing and insurance process could help prevent similar issues.

Mr. Balloon emphasized strong public support for the Turn the Key program, noting that many working
residents cannot afford to buy in the neighborhood and that there is a waiting list and a City goal of
1,000 Turn the Key homes.

Ms. Brooks then called for a motion to adopt the resolution.
Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Dema seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board held a roll call vote. Ten Board members voted in
favor of the disposition (Angela Brooks, Nicholas Dema, Cornelius Brown, Andrew Goodman,
Rebecca Lopez-Kriss, Alex Balloon, Kelvin Jeremiah, Darwin Beauvais, Maria Gonzalez, and Michael
Johns), and one opposed the disposition (Ms. Greenberg).

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board approved the Resolution Authorizing Conveyance
of 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 and 1610 Ogden Street; 863 North 15th Street; and 841, 845 and
851 North 16th Street to Francisville Commons 1, LLC (attached as Exhibit F.)

V.A.2. Development — Affordable Housing (RFP) — North Central Bailey St et al — Nation
Builders WFH, LL.C

Senior Development Specialist Brian Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of 1808,
1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837 and 1838 N. Bailey Street; 2525 and 2611 Cecil B. Moore
Avenue; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749 and 1832 N. 26th Street; and 1735, 1747 and 1765 N. 27th
Street in the Fifth (5th) Council District to Nation Builders WFH, LLC for the development of twenty
(20) single-family homes. He stated that the homes will be eligible for the Turn the Key program, sold
at up to $280,000 to households at or below 100% AMI. He noted that the developer was selected
through an RFP as the most qualified bidder, that three bids were submitted with two deemed qualified,
that an EOP plan will be required, and that a community meeting was held on September 4, 2025.

Seeing no questions from the Board, Chair Brooks asked if there were any written comments.

Ms. Imredy Saah reported that one letter and a petition were submitted requesting that 1725 North 26th
Street be removed from the project and preserved as open space, noting that the writer, Mr. Grossman,
is present and signed up to speak. All written comments received are attached to these minutes as
Exhibit G.

Mr. Grossman stated that the September 4 meeting was not a meaningful community meeting, as no
City staff attended and residents’ questions went unanswered. He explained that he and his neighbors
support affordable housing generally but oppose development of 1725 North 26th Street, which they
described as an actively used community garden and green space. Citing a petition with thirty (30)
block residents’ signatures, he urged the Board to remove that single lot from the project and suggested
that development occur on nearby vacant parcels instead, emphasizing the garden’s long-standing
community use and value.

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked what questions went unanswered at the community meeting. Mr. Grossman
responded that residents asked about the project timeline and other basic details, but the developer
PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 6 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 10 of 160



could not provide answers and no City or Council representative attended, making the meeting
ineffective.

Chair Brooks asked Mr. Rodriguez for clarification on the purpose of community meetings.

Mr. Rodriguez explained that the meetings are informational sessions required to present proposed
dispositions to the community and gather feedback, not deliberative or RCO meetings, and not intended
for decision-making. He noted that developers may choose whether to incorporate community input
before Board review and confirmed that the purpose is to inform residents about what is being
proposed.

Mr. Crosley stated that he represents the Fifth Council District and that the Council office fully supports
disposition.

Chair Brooks asked whether the community garden was licensed. Mr. Rodriguez stated that it was not,
explaining that the area’s land-use policy prioritizes affordable housing and does not allow side-garden
or open-space applications, including temporary leases.

Mr. Pritchett urged the Board not to take action that would delay construction of new affordable
housing, emphasizing Philadelphia’s urgent housing need.

Seeing no further questions, Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Balloon moved to approve the
disposition, and Mr. Johns seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 1808, 1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837, 1838 N. Bailey Street; 2525, 2611
Cecil B. Moore Avenue; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749, 1832 N. 26th Street; 1735, 1747, 1765 N.
27th Street (CD 5) to Nation Builders WFH, LLC (attached as Exhibit H.)

V.A.3. Development — Affordable Housing (RFP) — North Central Etting Street et al — North
Etting Commons LLC

Mr. Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of 1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842,
1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 1854, 1861, 1862 and 1866 N. Etting Street in the Fifth
(5th) Council District to North Etting Commons, LLC for the development of seventeen (17) single-
family affordable homes. He stated that the homes will be sold to households at or below 100% AMI
for up to $280,000, be eligible for the Turn the Key program, and were selected through an RFP as the
most qualified proposal following a community meeting held on September 29th. An EOP plan will
be required.

Ms. Saah reported that one letter was submitted regarding the North Central Etting Street RFP from
the Strawberry Mansion Community RCO, expressing full support for the project and requesting Board
approval. The written comment is attached to these minutes as Exhibit I.

Ms. Cummings, Director of the Strawberry Mansion Community Concern RCO, stated that she
submitted written comments and spoke to provide additional context. She emphasized her extensive

professional background in City government, planning, and development and clarified that she does
not oppose development itself but opposes development that lacks respect for community history and

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 7 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 11 of 160



impact. She added that, in contrast, The Prime Corporation engaged with the community respectfully
and with awareness of past trauma.

Mr. Crosley stated that the Fifth Council District fully supports the disposition.

Mr. Blatstein expressed support for the project and for Councilmember Young’s approach to advancing
similar RFP projects in the Fifth Council District.

Mr. Johns thanked Ms. Cummings for her continued engagement and noted that her support of the
developer as a community partner rather than a “conqueror” was significant and meaningful.

Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Jeremiah moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Johns
seconded.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 1854,
1861, 1862, 1866 N. Etting Street (CD 5) to North Etting Commons, LL.C (attached as Exhibit J).

V.A.4. Development — Affordable Housing (RFP) — Strawberry Mansion — Oakdale Street et al
— Civetta Property Group, LLC

Next, Mr. Romano requested Board approval for the disposition of 2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650
and 2651 N. Corlies Street; 2519, 2600, 2603, 2611, 2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031
and 3039 W. Oakdale Street; 2423, 2425, 2437,2446,2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517,
2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 and 2567 N. Stanley Street in the Fifth (5th) Council District to Civetta
Property Group LLC for the development of thirty-eight (38) single-family affordable homes. He stated
that the two-story homes will be approximately 1,375-1,400 square feet, sold to households at or below
100% AMI for up to $280,000, and be eligible for the Turn the Key program. He noted that the
developer was selected through an RFP as the most qualified bidder, that two qualified bids were
received, the EOP applies, and a community meeting was held on October 9, 2025.

Mr. Dema asked whether the removal of two properties was a technical matter and not a change to the
RFP, and Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that it was technical and did not alter the RFP.

Ms. Imredy Saah shared that one letter was submitted regarding the Strawberry Mansion RFP from the
Strawberry Mansion Community RCO, expressing full support for the project and requesting Board
approval. The written comment is attached to these minutes as Exhibit K.

Seeing no further questions from the Board, Chair Brooks proceeded to public comments.

Ms. Cummings expressed strong support for the Civetta Property Group project, citing community
engagement, respect for neighborhood character, and pathways to homeownership, and also praised
The Prime Corporation’s Etting Street proposal as a strong Turn the Key design.

Mr. Crosley stated that the Fifth Council District supports the project.

A member of the public made several comments regarding a developer, following which Mr. Jeremiah

requested that those comments, which he perceived as a derogatory personal attack, be stricken from
the record for not conforming to the Board’s policy. Ms. Imredy Saah added that personal accusations

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 8 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 12 of 160



are not permitted under the public comment policy and confirmed that the comment would not be
included in the minutes.

Mr. Edward Walter asked whether Turn the Key affordability at 100% AMI aligns with the program’s
definition of “affordable” and whether AMI has a specific definition or is used more broadly.

Mr. Rodriguez explained that Turn the Key homes are capped at 100% AMI to enable developers to
secure construction financing, even though most buyers earn much less, around $45,000 per year. He
described Turn the Key as a leverage program where the Land Bank discounts land value, developers
and banks assume construction risk, and buyers receive subsidies. He added that although homes are
priced at $280,000, the average mortgage at closing is about $180,000, resulting in monthly payments
below area rents.

Mr. Pritchett expressed support for the project, noting that adding thirty-eight homes is a positive step
forward and that there are residents currently waiting for housing like this.

Seeing no further questions, Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the
disposition, and Mr. Balloon seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 and 2651 North Corlies Street; 2519, 2600,
2603, 2611, 2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 and 3039 West Oakdale Street; 2423,
2425, 2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556
and 2567 North Stanley Street to Civetta Property Group LLC (attached as Exhibit L).

V.B.1. Development — Affordable Housing (unsolicited) — Trinity Property Advisors LL.C —
REMOVED FROM AGENDA

V.B.2. Development — Affordable Housing (unsolicited) — Civetta Property Group LLC -
REMOVED FROM AGENDA

V.B.3. Development — Affordable Housing (unsolicited) — Civetta Property Group LL.C

Before moving on to the next item of the agenda, Ms. Imredy Saah explained that two items were
removed from the agenda. She shared that the proposed disposition to Trinity Property Advisors was
removed because the developer had not completed the required re-certification due to unresolved tax
issues, which could not be cleared in time; she noted it will likely return in December. She stated that
the second item, the proposed disposition to Civetta Property Group in the Third District, was removed
at the developer’s request, as they are reconsidering how to phase and schedule their dispositions.

Cristina Martinez, Senior Development Specialist, requested Board approval for conveyance of 509,
511, 534 and 536 W. Dauphin Street; 310, 313, 503 and 505 Diamond Street; 516 and 518 Edgley
Street; 2305, 2307 and 2309 N. Lawrence Street; 2210, 2212, 2233, 2306, 2308, 2310 and 2312 N.
Leithgow Street; 447 W. Norris Street; 2206 N. Orianna Street; 2202, 2204 and 2257 N. Orkney Street;
2049,2138,2236,2252 and 2254 N. Reese Street; 304, 309,311, 323 and 512 W. Susquehanna Avenue;
and 2047, 2054 and 2151 N. 5th Street in the Seventh (7th) Council District to Civetta Property Group
LLC to develop 30 single-family homes. She stated that the homes will be two- and three-story units
of approximately 1,375 square feet, sold to households at or below 100% AMI for up to $280,000, and

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 9 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 13 of 160



eligible for the Turn the Key program. She noted that the application was unsolicited, evaluated under
the disposition policy, the EOP applies, and listed the properties included in the project.

Mr. Rodriguez noted for the record that Mr. Johns had recused himself from consideration of the item.

Chair Brooks reminded attendees that public comment is limited to two minutes and must remain non-
personal.

Ms. Lopez-Kriss noted that 2257 North Orkney Street and 2247 North 5th Street were removed from
the project. Chair Brooks confirmed the removals and asked whether there were any further Board
questions before proceeding to public comments.

Councilwoman Quetcy Lozada stated that she submitted a letter for the record and spoke in opposition
to the project, noting this was the fourth time the community has raised concerns. She emphasized that
her office follows a community-led process, expressed frustration that residents must repeatedly
oppose a project she believes does not meet her district’s needs, and stated that the developer has not
adequately responded to community requests. She urged the Board to respect and support the
community’s position.

Chair Brooks thanked Councilwoman Lozada and indicated that the Land Bank’s attorney would
explain the process and why the item returned multiple times.

Councilwoman Lozada responded that the process is not always applied consistently, stated that some
parties receive opportunities others do not, and offered to provide data from her office to support that
concern.

Ms. Imredy Saah explained that once an applicant and application are qualified, the matter comes
before the Board, and state law and the bylaws require six affirmative or negative votes for any
disposition over $50,000. She stated that in prior instances the item did not receive a dispositive vote
due to lack of quorum or insufficient votes, and that developers may request that the item be returned
to the Board for consideration. She noted that the developer did so here and invited Councilwoman
Lozada to submit any examples of inconsistent application of this process for review.

Ms. Nilda Pimentel, representing neighborhood groups and the coordinating RCO, stated that the
community has opposed the proposal multiple times and sought a more responsive alternative. She
argued that similar projects in other districts have included lower-priced homes, noted the lack of
affordable development in her neighborhood, and urged the Board to allow continued negotiations to
expand access to the Turn the Key program for local residents.

Ms. Imredy Saah summarized written correspondence received, including an October letter from the
Councilwoman, a letter from Ceiba opposing the project pending completion of a comprehensive plan
for publicly owned land in the Seventh Council District, and resident emails requesting preservation
of certain lots as green space or supporting the project. She also noted receipt of a petition with sixteen
(16) signatures supporting the project and written testimony from the developer outlining its
engagement timeline with the Seventh Council District. All written comments received are attached to
these minutes as Exhibit M.

Ms. Talia Giles, Director of the Philly Liberation Center, stated that her organization and other
neighborhood groups have opposed the Civetta project since July. She said the community
recommended offering some homes at $250,000, challenged claims that lower AMI households would

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 10 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 14 of 160



not be able to sustain mortgage payments, and urged negotiations with Councilmember Lozada,
expressing concern that Civetta had not engaged in good-faith discussions with the community.

Ms. Patricia DeCarlo criticized the Board’s process, stating that repeated community opposition has
not meaningfully affected outcomes. She argued that long-standing community gardens should be
identified before land is proposed for housing, called for stronger neighborhood integration into
decision-making, and urged the Board to reject the project, citing community votes opposing it and
concerns about affordability at 100% AMI.

Ms. Pandin stated that many households in her neighborhood are single-income, working-class
households and cannot afford the proposed home prices, noting that even two working adults may
struggle given prevailing wages on projects like Civetta’s.

Mr. Mo Rushdy thanked Councilmember Lozada for raising community concerns and stated that the
issue is not disagreement with the program’s goals but misunderstanding of the legislation’s intent. He
explained that Turn the Key represents a meaningful step toward affordability in a district with
$700,000 to $800,000 homes, noting that buyers earning modest wages have been purchasing homes
with mortgages around $180,000. He added that achieving lower AMI levels depends on mixed-
income, cross-subsidized development, and without it, deeper affordability becomes financially
unworkable.

Chair Brooks asked about recent construction cost increases. Mr. Rushdy explained that $280,000
homes now cost roughly $263,000-$267,000 to build, making projects increasingly difficult to finance.
He stated that construction costs have risen about thirty percent (30%) since 2019, citing an increase
from roughly $240,000 to $325,000 for a 2,000-square-foot home. He added that rising costs have
sharply reduced the number of homes sold under $350,000 outside of Turn the Key, emphasizing that
price increases reflect cost pressures rather than profit.

Mr. William Gonzales congratulated the new Chair and the Land Bank on the completion of its process
assessment and urged consistency in applying process improvements. He requested that the Board
pause the project to allow Councilmember Lozada’s forthcoming planning report to guide broader
negotiations, emphasizing respect for the planning process and coordinated decision-making before
proceeding.

Mr. Blatstein stated his opinion that the Turn the Key program was enacted by City Council and that
projects meeting its requirements must be approved by the Board. He emphasized that pricing
differences affect subsidy levels, not the buyer’s final cost, which remains around $180,000, and argued
that the program is intended to provide homeownership opportunities without discrimination. He urged
approval of the project so the thirty homes can move forward for eligible buyers.

Mr. Goodman stated that no discrimination is occurring and asked for clarification that the Turn the
Key enabling legislation and the Land Bank disposition policy are separate. Ms. Imredy Saah
responded that Turn the Key legislation and the Land Bank process were both set by Council, and Mr.
Goodman reiterated that they are distinct.

Ms. Relina Bonilla, a longtime neighborhood resident, stated that while she understands the need for
housing and supports Turn the Key in concept, the affordability levels do not reflect the realities of

low-income residents. She questioned whether local households can truly afford the mortgages, raised
concerns about home design for seniors and families, and emphasized the financial strain on working

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 11 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 15 of 160



residents who earn too much for assistance but still cannot afford homeownership, urging closer
evaluation of neighborhood incomes and costs.

As public comments concluded, Ms. Gonzalez stated that Board members support the Turn the Key
program but recognize that rising construction costs require additional resources and flexibility. She
suggested increasing subsidies and considering set-asides for households at or below 80% AMI to
better balance developer feasibility with community needs. She emphasized the need for continued
dialogue and compromise, acknowledged community displacement concerns, and questioned why the
Board should proceed now given public and Councilmember opposition, an ongoing land review, and
requests to pause the resolution to determine a clearer path forward.

Mr. Jeremiah asked the developer why they continued with the application despite opposition from
both Councilwoman Lozada and the community.

Ms. Brennan Tomasetti of Civetta Property Group responded that while she was aware of community
opposition, she was not aware of the Councilmember’s direct opposition. She stated that Civetta
engaged the community, believes there is some neighborhood support, and chose to follow the
established process to advance the project, emphasizing the urgent need to build more affordable
housing despite differing community views.

Mr. Folks identified himself as representing Councilmember Lozada and stated that, prior to submitting
the written opposition, the Council office contacted Mr. Tomasetti twice by phone to directly
communicate its opposition to the project.

Mr. Jeremiah asked whether there was an opportunity for the Councilwoman, the community, and the
developer to engage in dialogue to reach a mutually acceptable resolution.

Councilwoman Lozada responded that her office and community groups had repeatedly oftered Civetta
opportunities to negotiate and raised concerns directly. She emphasized that neither she nor the
community opposes the Turn the Key program but rather the application of a uniform approach that
does not account for neighborhood-specific needs, and urged flexibility to tailor the program
accordingly.

Chair Brooks called for a motion.

Ms. Gonzalez moved to postpone the item to allow the Councilwoman’s office, the developer, and the
community time to negotiate a resolution. After discussion about timing, she amended the motion to a
60-day postponement.

Mr. Jeremiah seconded the amended motion, and Ms. Brooks called for a vote on the amended
resolution to postpone the item for at least sixty (60) days.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board approved the postponement by a minimum of sixty
(60) days to allow Councilwoman Lozada, the community, and the developer to engage in further

negotiations.

V.C.1. Gardens and Open Space — Faith Eternal Health Care

Ms. Martinez requested Board approval for the conveyance of 2758—60 and 2762 Helen Street in the
First Council District to Safe Eternal Healthcare, a nonprofit, for use as permanently restricted

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 12 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 16 of 160



managed open space subject to a 30-year mortgage. She noted the application was unsolicited,
evaluated under the disposition policy, and that an EOP plan is not required.

Ms. Imredy Saah reported receiving an email from Steven Chervaka requesting consideration of
parking needs and asking whether the proposed garden would be accessible to neighbors or fenced
and locked like another community garden space nearby. The written comment is attached to these
minutes as Exhibit N.

Mr. Rodriguez clarified that public parking is not permitted in garden open space and that the
property would be subject to a permanent deed restriction. Ms. Imredy Saah added that while
fencing is required, the space would not be locked and would remain open to the community.

Seeing no further questions, Chair Brooks called for a motion. Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the
disposition, and Mr. Goodman seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution
Authorizing Conveyance of 2758-60, 2762 Helen Street to By Faith Eternal Health Care.
(attached as Exhibit O).

V.D.1. Side/Rear Yards

Ms. Martinez requested Board approval for the conveyance of 2726 North 15th Street to Maurice L.
Hammond for use as a side yard. She stated that the property will be subject to a 30-year mortgage and
permanently restricted for side-yard use, the application was unsolicited, and an EOP plan is not
required.

Ms. Lopez-Kriss noted a potential typo in the resolution listing a $20,000 conveyance price.
Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that $20,000 is the appraised value, with $1 paid at closing and a $19,999
mortgage, and stated she would revise the resolution to reflect the full price and mortgage. She added

that there were no public comments.

Chair Brooks called for any further questions from the Board and the public. There were none. She
then called for a motion.

Mr. Johns moved to approve the disposition, and Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing
Conveyance of 2726 North 15th Street to Maurice L. Hammond (attached as Exhibit P).

Item VI
Public Comment (Old & New Business)

Before moving to the next agenda item, Mr. Goodman asked whether PHDC is considering raising the
Turn the Key subsidy cap from $75,000 to the $100,000 allowed under the enabling legislation, and
whether the Board could encourage that discussion. Mr. Rodriguez responded that PHDC is reviewing
the subsidy level, noted that the PHDC Board Chair has already raised the issue with PHDC, and
explained that the current cap resulted from extensive deliberation when the program was established,
though it is now under reconsideration.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 13 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 17 of 160



Ms. Pamela Watson said the side-yard application process has been unclear and inconsistent, citing
repeated agenda removals of a lot she would like to apply for. Mr. Rodriguez responded that the
property was removed from a developer proposal, confirmed staff has her application, and said they
would follow up with her directly.

Mr. Blatstein stated that the Turn the Key process was enacted by City Council and that any changes
to the program or process should be made legislatively by Council. He expressed frustration with calls
for neighborhood-specific exceptions, arguing that consistent rules are necessary for clarity and that
responsibility for changes rests with City Council, not the Land Bank Board.

Mr. Richard Delgado expressed solidarity with residents stewarding vacant lots, emphasizing they are
not anti-housing but have invested years of sweat equity maintaining community gardens and deserve
consideration in development decisions. He urged respect for community input on the type of housing
developed. Separately, he requested an update on Iglesias Gardens’ long-pending Purchase and
Development Agreement, noting that revisions were submitted ten months ago and the organization is
still waiting to sign documents.

Ms. Imredy Saah and Mr. Rodriguez explained that revisions to the Purchase and Development
Agreement, Mortgage, Note, and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants required review and approval
by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to ensure consistency. That review is complete, materials
were shared with the Neighborhood Gardens Trust earlier this week, and the finalized response and
PDA will be sent to Mr. Delgado by the end of the week.

Mr. Rushdy indicated that the board discussion is a productive forum for solutions and noted
opportunities to better align the Turn the Key program with community needs. He explained that
subsidy levels should respond to interest rates: as rates fall, the same subsidy yields much lower
payments, potentially wasting funds. He proposed a matrix tying subsidy amounts to market interest
rates and different AMI levels so assistance can be adjusted over time, allowing deeper subsidies for
lower-income buyers while maintaining affordable monthly payments.

Mr. Crosley thanked attendees for their patience and noted that, through collaboration among the public
sector, private developers, and the community, Council District 5 has advanced more than 180
workforce homeownership units, with over 100 already delivered and 65 more expected by year’s end.
He also highlighted the recent approval of five tax credit projects totaling over $100 million in
equitable development.

Mr. Rodriguez echoed those remarks, noting that early coordination helped establish momentum and
that the current agenda reflects the progress made. He commended the work completed and expressed
support for continuing future RFPs.

Ms. Pandin objected to her prior comments about a developer being excluded from the minutes, arguing
that the action was unfair and undemocratic.

Ms. Imredy Saah and Mr. Rodriguez explained that comments asserting unverified factual claims about
individuals or companies cannot be repeated in the official record because they create potential legal

liability. Chair Brooks clarified that this policy is applied consistently to all speakers, regardless of
who makes the statement.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 14 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 18 of 160



Ms. Imredy Saah and Mr. Rodriguez added that while her participation would be noted in the minutes,
specific unverified allegations would not be included.

Ms. Cummings raised concerns about accessibility and transparency at the in-person meeting, noting
inadequate microphones, difficulty hearing Board members, the small room size, and health concerns
due to attendees being seated in such close proximity to each other. She said this created a perception
that the Board was speaking among itself rather than to the public, and she urged more professional
accommodations.

Mr. Rodriguez acknowledged the concern and stated that staff are actively working to improve the
sound system, noting prior attempts to acquire equipment and expressing hope that future budget
resources will resolve the issue.

Mr. Lawrence Macey of Macey Enterprises LLC introduced himself and his development model,
which reinvests 50% of net profits into the surrounding community. He emphasized collaboration with
the Land Bank and community early in the process, noted he plans to submit unsolicited applications,
and requested the appropriate contact for moving forward.

Mr. Zane Knight suggested that when credible allegations of unethical business practices arise, the
Board consider tabling the item and requesting further review before disposing of City land. He

emphasized the importance of due diligence and transparency, without taking a position on the specific
issue.

Item VII
Adjournment

Seeing no further comments from the Board or the public, Chair Brooks called for a motion to adjourn.
Mr. Beauvais moved to adjourn the meeting. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 12:42 p.m.

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 15 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 19 of 160



PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday, November 18, 2025, at 10:00 AM.
User Name
Ron Williams
Damaris Diaz
Talia Giles
Kate Nessmith
Edward Walker
Mike Tomasetti
Brennan Tomasetti
Jeremy Blatstein
Tiffany D. Washington
Kyeaf S. Riddick
Mo Rushdy
Councilwoman Quetcy Lozada
Jacob Pritchett
Sloane A. Folks
Richard Kruger Delgado
Brandon Burns
Joshua Matthew
Tom Delucia
Zane Knight
Talia Torres
Desmond Kirton
David Langlieb
Clara Morton
Halee Bouchehrian
Noah Grossman
Dennis Maryak
Gabriel Spiller
Conlan Crosley
Nilda L. Pimentel
Patricia DeCarlo
Lawrence Macey
William Gonzalez
Marguarita Pandin
Ruth Pamela Watson
Ashley Knueppel
Joe Deutschmann
Bonita Cummings
Edward Walker
Relina Bonilla
Sloan Folks

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 16 of 94
Page 20 of 160

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 17 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 21 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 18 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 22 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 19 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 23 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 20 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 24 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 21 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 25 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 22 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 26 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 23 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 27 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 24 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 28 of 160



Exhibit A

Board of Directors Land Bank Meeting

11/14/2025

Page 30 Page 32
1 options? I'm just curicus. 1 the project.
2 MR. DEUTSCHMEN: ItC's not a project regardless whether 2 M3. BROOKS: Call the resolution.
3 it gets reconfiqured. I assume, you know, some of the 3 MS, GONZALEZ: I just want to say, in an ideal world, when
4 other lots that are in the Land Pank area that are 4 vacant lots are inventoried, I think there should be a
5 fwther away, I assume there's costs. 5 way to identify where they're belng repurposed into
& M. JEREMIRH: Can vou let the dewvelcper speak? 6 gardens, and that commmnity groups should, vou know, and
7 MR. COLEMEN: Darren Coleman with The Prime Corporaticn. 7 Iden't put it on council, but also cammity groups
3 I can barely hear you in the back. 3 should take the step to talk to city comceil and have
g There are two replacanant lots that T 9 those discussicns and see, you know, if and try to come 10
10 quess the comunity garden would be replaced at. to an agreament. or not, which is fine.
11 Have you explored with them whether or not they can 11 But just have that opportunity to talk so
12 remain where they are currently? Are vou building 12 that I think it would minimize, you know, these, you
13 on the lots that have been earmarked for that? 13 know, disruptions to commmity and alsc there could
14 I don't know anything about the 14 have Deen an opportunity to negotiate for other
15 replacament lots. We didn't talk about that. 15 locations.
16 MR. JEREMIAH: Cowncil would have the review. 16 MS. BROCKS: There's also a risk to the city.
17 Have you engaged with them? 17 o the city amployees have to do a better job in having
18 MR. COLEMEN: Yes. We've met and talked on the phone | 18  that. If there had been an incident on this lot while
19 and everything is fine. We get along. They had 15 unlicensed, that's a huge risk and liability to the
20 concern abolt the open, you know, opeh space, the 20 city. 8o -
21 park. I knew that from our first gathering, but it 21 MR. RODRIGUEZ: As you heard from the commnity,
22 wag an RFP pretty much, and I'm not in control -- if 22 there was comversation at the comncil office. We did
23 it wag unsolicited, you know, cne of those things, I 23 inventory and we did go through at the inventory about
24 probably could have some control with that. 24 what was there. These conversations were had multiple
25 But when it's an RFP, I had to bid 25 times, and we were instructed to move forward. Eo we

Page 31 Page 33
1 MR. JEREMIPH: I understand. 1 did move forward.
2 MR, COLEMAN: But they had mentioned that multiple 2 Again, no one had a license agreement or a legal
3 times about the open space. Again, it has to @ 3 right to ccoupy the land.
4 through council. 4 M. BROOKS: We should have told them you nesd to
5 MR. JEREMIAH: Uhderstocd. Thank yol. 5 wvacate.
6 M. BROOKS: My other questions or discussicns 6 M3, BROOKS: That will prohably be part of the
7 ameng the board? A1l right. 7 land strategy happening at this moment.
3 MS. SARH: Just as a point process, the board 8 M3. GREENBERG: Additional comment. If there
S can make a motion to adopt this resolution as is. The 10 9 were a clear process Lo Lry Lo get a license agreement
board has also in the past made resolutions, proposed 11 10 and insurance, then we cculd also avoid these
alternate resolutions. I'm just making you aware of 12 that, 11 situations.
macdam chair, that is something the board can 12 MR. BAILOON: I just wanted to comment. I watched the home
13 certainly congider again. This is an REP. 13 hearing and heard -- some of us were there -- and I
14 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Just this caveat to the point 15 14 heard a lot of coments just in general in support of
it does mot challenge the integrity of the RFP process. 16 S0 | 15 Turn the Key program, and I think about the time I spent
I just want to ke very clear, because when you change 17 16 at the free library and pecple I worked with who were
things that are findawental to the RFP, there were other 18 17 like library assistants 2's who make $19 an hour who
solicitors, you have, now changed that parameter and 19 they 18 want to live in this neighborhood and they can't afford
did not have an opportunity to bid on that 19 to hwy in this neighborhood.
20 altemate or altered, you know, nventory. 20 &0 I think it's important that pecple just
21 M3. SRAH: So it would have to be a new RFP? 21 remamber that there's a waiting list for the Turn to Key
22 Even an alternative resolution would 22 program, and the city comeil identified a goal of a
23 esgentially ke a mo. 23 thousand Turn the Key homes. So T just wanted to sort
24 MS. BROCKS: Enything we propose would be -- 24 of share that. Thank you.
25 M. SREH: Two lots 1s a material change, 20% of 25 M3. BROCKS: At this point, I would entertain a

Lexitas Legal Philadelphia
215-504-4622

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026

Page 25 of 94
Page 29 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 26 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 30 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 27 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 31 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 28 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 32 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 29 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 33 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 30 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 34 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 31 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 35 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 32 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 36 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 33 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 37 of 160



Exhibit A

Board of Directors Land Bank Meeting

11/14/2025
Page 66 Page 68
1 benefit from this program. Thank you. 1 any of the commmity groups.
2 M8, BROCKS: Thank you. We forgot to sumarize 2 M3, SARH: Next, Patricia deCarlo.
3 the written correspondence we received. 2Znd wy 3 M3, DECERLO: My name is Patricia deCarlo. So this
4 agologizes for that. We did receive a letter. We 4 will be the fourth time I show up for this mesting,
5 recelved councll woman's letter back in October, and it 5 and this time you are going to be the ones that I'm
& was distributed. & charging to. You need to, as a koard, review your
7 M5, SRRH: We received this time a letter from SAVA 7 misgiom and your procedures.
3 opposing the project and requesting that the disposition 3 o tell me that we come to this meeting and we
9 he stopped until the comprehensive plan and use 9 can speak, but it deesn't make ary difference
10 assessment for publically cwned land in the 7th district 10 because it's not an RO, It's not a zoning meeting.
11 1is completed and apparently scheduled to ke released 12 11 It's a prcblem with your process.
BOCIL. 12 To have land proposed for development
13 We also recelived an email from a resident 13 where there are gardens that have been there for
14 asking for maintenance of the lots at 4th and 14 seven years, whers the owner of the property and
15 Sugquehanna Avenue as greenh spaces, and we received 15 that land is part of her, it's been there 20 years
16 an email from a resident on the 2300 block of 16 and the Land Bank takes it over and still puts it up
17 Lawrence Street supporting the proposed development 17 for development of housing is a problem on your
18 of the Turn the Key homes. 18 side.
19 We received a petition with 16 signatures 19 We shouldn't have to come here and say we
20 supporting the project, then testimony. We did 20 Tave a garden in those two lots like they did
21 recelve written testimony from the developer 21 before. %o this process, please -- and I know
22 regarding thelr timeline of thelr engagement with 22 you're the new board president, I would ask you to
23 the 7th council district. 23 prioritize locking at the process both for
24 MS. SARH: We'll go an to the next person who signed 24 reighborhood incorporation into the process and
25  up. Talia Giles? 25 review of the land before it gets allowed to be
Pags &7 Page 69
1 MS. JILES: Geod morning. My name is Talia Jiles. Im 1 developed into housing.
2 the director of the Philly Liberation Center which 2 There are other uses besides housing and in
3 18 an organizing advocacy group in the north square 3 this particular case, we're talking about affordsble
4 commmity, and I also live in that commmnity. In 4 houging to our neigtborhood, our neighborbood. TNot
5 order to keep things brief and to the two mirmtes, 5 the 100% median income of the City of Philadelphia
& I'mgoing to try to summarize best that I can. 6 and the conty. Please say no to this project
7 Since July our organizaticn along with many 7  because we, the commmity, have spoken. There was a
8 others has joined in the neigthorhood opposing the 8 commity meeting. 17 woted against. mnly two
9 Clvetta project. We were also part of the 9 voted for.
10 discussion when the proposal was presented and 10 & I don't know where these things came from 11
11 dugported. The recommendation made by all the they put out afterwards. CK? So dome a favor. 12 8ix of
12 groups in our community for Civetta to offer some you, let's get it over with and vote no.
13 houses at 250,000. 13 Thank you.
14 Because of the previous board meeting, scme 14 [Applause
15  speakers raised the issue that lowsring income for 15 M5, SABH: Marquarita Pandin.
16 families making less than 60% of AMI would set the 16 M3, PRNDIN: Hi again, evervbody. I'm a resident of New
17 grogp of individuals wp for failure, but that is not 17 Orleans Square and the people in our neighborhocd as
18  true, and there is specific data to prove that's not 18 well as in West Philadelphia probably more so are a
19 true, which I'm happy to share later again because 1% lot of the households are one income from one adult,
20 of the two minute restriction. 20 and working people not professionals.
21 I want to focus on fact that negotiations 21 %o maybe a professional one-income household
22 should happen with that council member Iozada, and 22 can afford the prices that are being proposed for
23 that, you know, I think it shows a lack of good 23 these properties. But not one income worker and
24 faith that the Clvetta group has not tried to have 24 even two workers, especially, with what workers are
25  had these negotiations with our commmity or with 25 being paid on projects like Civetta projects.
Lexitas Legal Philadelphia

215-504-4622

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026

Page 34 of 94
Page 38 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 35 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 39 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 36 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 40 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 37 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 41 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 38 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 42 of 160



Exhibit A

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 39 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 43 of 160



Exhibit A

Board of Directors Land Bank Meeting

11/14/2025
Pags 90 Page 92
1 which cutlines what's a qualified buyer. 1 Phene call?
2 But also, more importantly, what income levels 2 MR. RODRIGUEZ:  Provide that to my assistant.
3 are. Again, historical knowledge, there was a lot of 3 s> Would I be able to make a statament
4 issues around the 75,000 was initially set by council. 4 before we adjourn?
5 A lot of deliberations were done. We locked at buying 5 M5. BROOKS: You can. I believe we have other
& points and all kinds of things. 6 pecple signed up. We know your name. We'll make sure
7 This was a massive effort to come up with where 7 we call you up.
8 weended. T would point out that this was a project 8 »» Thank you.
9 that started just at the begimning of the pandemic, and 9 MS. GRRH: Jacch Pritchett.
10 has survived the pandemic. Mainly because of those -- 10 »» He left.
11  the research that we had done but that is being 11 MS. SARH: Jeremy Blatstein.
12 considered. 12 MR, Blatstein. The last thing I'11
13 MS. SARH: Additional requests for new and old 13 gay, in temms of legislation, it's passed by city
14 business by Pamela Watson. 14 camcil, if city council doesn't like how the
15 M3, WATSOM: Good afternoon. My name is Pamela 15 process is, they should change it.
16 Watson. I reside in the 3rd District. I'm a new 16 It's kind of disingenuous for the council
17 resident of the 3rd District. I applied for a side 17 woman to get up here and talk about process or
18 lot application months and months ago. The process 18 legislation and they are the ones who passed it.
15 is not transparent to me. 15 It's frustrating to try to get up here and say,
20 I've gotten approval to my applicaticn and 20 well, there should be different processes for
21 then more hurdles thrown at me over and over, over 21 different neighborhoods when that's what was passed.
22 the course of the last few months. I also noticed 22 I struggle with that. How can you sxpect
23 that that property aleng with others in the 3rd 23 people to understand what the process is 1f you want
24 District has been on the agenda and stricken from 24 to try to cne-off it in each neighborhood, and
25 the agenda several Cimes. 25 council woman has the Turn the Key program applying
Page S1 Page 93
1 &0 it was mot clear. When I called and when I 1 to her neighborhood and every single other coumcil
2 tried to get clarification, is it even still 2 person in the City of Philadelphia accepted that.
3 available? Because it is -- again, it has been 3 T would just like something as we moved move
4 stricken from the agenda. 4 forward, they talk about that a lot, and T would put
5 &0 as a commnity member, I've heen 5 the eamest to city comcil to make those
6 engaging pecple in my commnity about this property, & adjustments into the Land Bank board. It's on city
7 and there's a lot of support for what I want to do 7 comeil to make the changes, how it operates.
3 with the side lot for my commmity, but it's not 3 M5. SREH: Richard Delgato.
9 clear if it's even worth the battle 9 MR. DELGADO: Good afterncon, beard and chair. My name
10 What I've seen with other commmities today 10 is Richard, a volunteer and organizer with Iglesias
11 here, I want to do it the right way, engaging my 11 Gardens in North Philly, a commmity garden and
12 comeil and make sure I'm applying and having it 12 space right around the Nerris Scquare area.
13 legal. But it's not clear and transparent how the 13 T want to say a comment of solidarity with
14 process 1s working. 14 some residents here today who are speaking to issues
15 MR. RODRIGIEZ: Address? 15 related to lots that were keing stored and are now
16 MS. WATSCN: 818 North Presley. It was also listed on | 16 moving forward to housing.
17 June 10th meeting and posted, but also again crogsed 17 I'm disturbed by the implication out of some
18 at the last minute. That's why I asked earlier the 18 coments that these residents are anti-housing and
19 regsoning for it and it was given that it was -- due 1% anti-developments. These are residents who
20 to spacing and scaling. 20 stewarded three lots.
21 MR. RODRIGUEZ:  What we'll do, I believe that 21 What do T mean? In a moment when the City was
22 was remowed from that proposal from the developer. We 22 doing mothing, these residents, street to street,
23 will follow up with yvou by the proposal and with staff 23 block by block, neighborhoed by neighborhood were
24 and get hack to vou. We have your applicaticn. 24 maintaining, cleaning and tuming these spaces into
25 M5, WATHON: I'll expect an amail from your office? 25 public and civic spaces for the benefit of the

Lexitas Legal Philadelphia
215-504-4622
PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 40 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 44 of 160



Exhibit A

Board of Directcrs Land Bank Meeting

11/14/2025

Pags 94 Page 96
1 commmity. 1 M3. SREH: I'd like to get you off my desk as
2 And T believe that those residents 2 well. Trust me. One more.
3 deserve some congideration from this board, also by 3 Moe Rushty and Lawrence Macy and Conlin Crossly.
4 dewelopers for the work they have done to steward 4 MR. RUSHDY: Thank you for your time. This has been a
5 that public land for the benefit of those 5 discussion. We're sitting in this beard meeting and
& commmities, and it's not about heing against 6 there's a lot of support and cpposition, and we need
7 housing or development. 7 to -- this is a good fonm for actually providing
8 What kind of development and housing are we 3 solutions.
9 bringing to these commmities and what role and 9 I do chair PHDC and I did see there's
10 decision-making authority do those commmity members 10 opportimities that we can actually reach synergies
11 who've done that sweat equity work get in this 11 between what the program dees and intent of the
12 process? £o that message is for them and for you. 12 program and members of the commmnity.
13 Bg to the actual old business that I'm 13 Iet me give you a little bit of context. One
14 here for, once again, wy hame is Richard. I'm a 14 of the things we're not realizing is Turn the Key
15  voter organizer with the Iglesias Gardens in North 15 wag extremely crucial to be at that mwber, $75,000
16  Philly. Ten months ago, our organizaticn sent to 16 in the midst of COVID, and the rising interest rates
17  Land Bank final revisicns to our purchase and 17 are dropping every -- 1% of the interest rates are
18 development agresment. 18 dropping is equivalent to about 15 to $20,000 in
19 But we're still waiting for documents to sign. 19 substance.
20 In the five years since we submitted cur land 20 What does that wean? If we stay at 575,000
21 application, which was approved successfully, we 21 when the interest rates will go down 2%, we're
22 attended several meetings to remind this board and 22 wasting money. So why don't we actually take a deep
23 Land Bank staff that we remain highly motivated to 23 dive, okay, and start locking and saying, listen, if
24 finish this process and secure our garden's land. 24 we want to be $1300 payment for the 100% AMI and we
25 And it would be really nice to go back to cur 25 know that interest rates will be dropping down to

Page 85 Page 97
1 Iglesias commmity with some update from this board 1 let's cay 5%, maybe the subsidy is only 50,000 or
2 an that. 2 55,000,
3 MS. SAPH: T can glve you an update. We 3 8o if we can reach a matrix and I put them
4 aubmitted cur -- the NGT's attormey had requested 4 together and sent it to other board members to kind
5 miltiple changes to the FOR in additicn to vours, and we 5 of start discussing that about a month ago. If we
& finally got those. We provided a response to NGT and & can leok and discuss a matrix that actually links
7 we'll provide a response to you by the end of the week 7 the interest rates cn the market, you know, 5%, &%,
8 along with a PDR, but it had to be -- it had to be 8 7% and different AMI's, we might be able to, with
9 cleared with the redevelopment authority as well because S the legislative branch, increase these subsidies to
10 we have to be consistent. 10 where these are in the neighborhoods and decreasing
11 MR. RCDRIGUEZ: Let me explain. 11 them, also depending cn a time we're in.
12 MR. RCDRIGUEZ: Purchase and develcpment agreement, 12 I think, In a year's time, we're not going to
13 which also -- so the purchase and developuent agresment 13 need -- that same 75,000 will reach actually a
14 also invelved a mortgage note and a declaration of 14 payment of less than 1,000 bucks. But why would I 15
15 restrictive covenants on the garden. have a payment for less than 1,000 bucks for someone 16
16 S0 all of those had to be carefully reviewed and making 60,0007 They can pay a little bit more so we 17
17 approved by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority's can have somsone else that needs a desper aim.  Just 18
18 legal department as well, as well as go through our wanted to put this up.
15 process. 19 M3. SREH: Collin Crossly.
20 S0 that has been done. We provided that to 20 MR. CROSLEY: Good moming. This is my last time up.
21 NGT earlier this week, and I apologize it hasn't 21 Promige. I'm Collin Crossly. I serve as director
22 been sent to you, but there's two of us in the 22 of development and labor for council member Young in
23 office and we have a lot going an. I will make sure 23 the 5th District.
24 you get it end of the wesk. 24 I thank everyene for their continued patience
25 MR. DELGEDO: Thank you for the update. 25 since we've came into office with regards to

Lexitas Legal Philadelphia
215-504-4622
PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 41 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 45 of 160



Exhibit A

Board of Directors Land Bank Meeting

11/14/2025
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package foreJanuary| 13, 2026 rage 1R280€ 46 of 160
1 because everybody is ready to go. I didn't expect 1 into the district.

2 to come up here this morning. I actually came to 2 Again, I'm a unique developer, half of my net



Exhibit B

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 43 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 47 of 160



Exhibit C
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 44
RESOLUTION APPOINTING ANGELA BROOKS AS BOARD CHAIR

WHEREAS, Herbert Wetzel was appointed by the Mayor of Philadelphia to serve on the
Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors (the “Board”) on April 25, 2024 and served as Chair of
the Board until he was relieved of his appointment on October 16, 2025;

WHEREAS, on October 17, 2025, Cherelle Parker, Mayor of Philadelphia, appointed Angela
Brooks to fill the Board of Directors vacancy created by Herbert Wetzel’s departure;

WHEREAS, Section 201 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank (as amended) states
“If an office is vacated, the position may be filled during a regular meeting of the Board;”

WHEREAS, Angela Brooks is the sole nominee for the office of Board Chair;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia
Land Bank that, in accordance with Section 201 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank,
Angela Brooks is elected Chair of the Board until the next election of the officers of the Board of

Directors is held.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 44 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 48 of 160



Exhibit D
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 45

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION 2022-55 TO SUBSTITUTE
SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES FOR FINE PRINT CONSTRUCTION, LLC
AS DEVELOPER OF 2329 ELLSWORTH STREET, 2245 FEDERAL STREET,
1709 POINT BREEZE AVENUE, 1711 POINT BREEZE AVENUE,
1822-34 REAR POINT BREEZE AVENUE AND 1836 POINT BREEZE AVENUE

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land
Bank (“Land Bank™) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the
Land Bank in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”), pursuant to Resolution 2022-55 adopted
on December 13, 2022 (the “Resolution”), approved the conveyance of 2329 Ellsworth Street, 2445
Federal Street, 1709 Point Breeze Avenue, 1711 Point Breeze Avenue, 1822-34 Rear Point Breeze
Avenue, and 1836 Point Breeze Avenue (collectively, the “Properties”), in addition to eight (8)
additional properties not at issue in this request, to Fine Print Construction, LLC (“Fine Print”);

WHEREAS, Fine Print has requested approval to substitute the following separate special
purpose entities for Fine Print as Developer of each of the respective Properties: 2329 Ellsworth
LLC, 2445 Federal LLC, 1709 Point Breeze LLC, 1711 Point Breeze LLC, and SUUDA-Kenyatta
Bey LLC (for 1822-24 Rear and 1836 Point Breeze Avenue), each of which is a Pennsylvania limited
liability company whose members are one or both of the same individuals who organized Fine Print
Construction LLC (the “Special Purpose Entities”);

WHEREAS, the Special Purpose Entities are in all respects qualified to serve as Developer
of each of the respective Properties;

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to
amend the Resolution and approve the substitution of the Special Purpose Entities as Developer of
each of the respective the Properties, with all other terms of Resolution 2022-55 to remain in full
force and effect;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the
Philadelphia Land Bank that:

1. The substitution of the Special Purpose Entities as Developer of each of the respective Properties
is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of
Philadelphia City Council. All other terms and conditions of the approved disposition of the
Property shall remain in full force and effect.

2. The conveyance of the Properties to the Special Purpose Entities complies with all applicable
terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code.

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each
hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver,
and perform any and all agreements and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to
consummate the conveyance of the Premises (collectively, the “Transaction Documents™) and,
from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents,

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 45 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 49 of 160



Exhibit D

or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable. The Transaction Documents and any
amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as
the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the
terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute
the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting
following the date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 46 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 50 of 160



Exhibit E

From: Amber Walker <awalkr86@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, November 17, 2025 8:58 AM

To: Andrea Saah

Subject: RFP Francisville Ogden et al — Francisville Commons 1, LLC
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender.

Hi,

The Lil Ogden Garden is a gathering place for the community in Francsville as well as the only green
space in the neighborhood that people can enjoy. The Francisville Ogden et al— Francisville Commgns 1,
LLC has nct taken intc account the importance of this space for the community. Affordable housing is
important and that can be pursued while preserving the community's green spaces. | hope alternative
solutions will be considered that will keep the Lil Ogden garden intact.

Thank you,
Amber Walker
From: Antonia Scannapieco <antoniascannapieco@gmail.com>
Sent: Saturday, November 15, 2025 3:15 PM
To: Andrea Saah
Subject: Please save Little Ogden Garden!
Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender.

Please save the Little Ogden Garden!
The area brings so much happiness to our little corner of the neighborhood. Not only does the garden mean so much,
people use the space to enjoy their coffee, connect with one another, and spread joy - more of what our city and

neighborhood needs. Please please save the garden.

Sent from my iPhone

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 47 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 51 of 160



Exhibit E

Substitute two nearbyvacant parcels or adjust the development plan by allowing greater height or
multi-unit configurations on the remaining parcels so the full unit count is preserved while
keeping the two active garden lots (1544 & 1546 Ogden).

Both options deliver the same amount of workforce housing and maintain a centrally located,
thriving pocket park - benefiting current residents and incoming families alike.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 48 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 52 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 49 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 53 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 50 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 54 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 51 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 55 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 52 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 56 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 53 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 57 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 54 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 58 of 160



Exhibit E

« Our community supports affordable housing and also acknowledges that shared green spaces help
build community especially in a gentrifying neighborhood which often causes some neighbors to never
interact with each other.

+ Since there are a few other lots nearby that are city owned and the current plans don't fit the
neighborhood nearly as well as they could, the community is looking to keep 1544 and 1546 as a public
garden space, and consider alternate design plans (slab on grade to increase height of new homes to
blend in with surrounding building heights) and select some of the other nearby available lots as
replacements. It would also be worth considering if 2 unit builds make sense on some of the larger lots
(841 N 16th is particularly large) or lots that are sandwiched between other large buildings (844 N 16th,
851 N 16th in particular).

1230-1248 Burns Street

(8]
o 1245-1249 N15th Street
o 1642 Francis Street
o 1523 W Flora Street
o 1613 Ogden Street
PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 55 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 59 of 160



Exhibit E

+ \We believe this is a common-sense compromise that will improve the neighborhood for its current and
future residents. Without this pocket park, there will be a stretch of several blocks with no open green
spaces. This space is centrally located in a higher foot traffic area where the current alternate is more
out of the way in a low foot traffic area that will lead to the space being very under-utilized.

In short-
« Issues with the current RFP
o New home heights dramatically different than surrounding homes
o Well loved community garden space on some of the included lots
o No remaining green space for multiple blocks in all directions
o No community input up to this point
e Possible Solutions
o Redesign RFP to better fit neighborhood (slab on grade to increase height, possible multi-unit
builds for larger lots), replace 2 lots with nearby alternatives to save community space
= Win-Win for current and future residents of this section of Francisville, having a
centrally located, well loved pocket park that
o Re-locate community garden to 1438 Poplar Street
= Safety Concerns, abandoned buildings, drug addicts and sex offenders at nhearby shelter
= Current space generates constant flow of foot traffic / use which has kept the space safe
fromiillicit activities (drug use, prostitution, vandalism) which were common in the current
space before it was set up as a community garden.
= Restarting 6 years of continuous work / improvements / building of the space

Thanks,

Joe Deutschmann
Block Captain of 1500 Ogden Street

From: Sara Pentlicky <sara.pentlicky@gmail.com>
Sent: Saturday, November 15, 2025 9:15 PM

To: Andrea Saah

Subject: please save the ogden park!!

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender.

we live one block away and love that there are parks and green space i. cur neighborhood. please save
the park. it is a vital community space.

sincerely,
homeowners at 807 N 20th St, Philadelphia, PA 19130

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 56 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 60 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 57 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 61 of 160



Exhibit E

From: Kenzie Meehan <kenziemeehan5@gmail.com >
Sent: Thursday, November 13, 2025 11:00 AM

To: Andrea Saah

Subject: Lil ogden garden Francisville

External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender.

Can you please not let our little piece of grass go to waste to another ugly apartment building you don’t
care about our health or happiness if you take this away from us. Thanks in advance!

From: Kenzie Meehan <kenziemeehan5S@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, November 13, 2025 11:06 AM

To: Andrea Saah

Subject: RFP Francisville Ogden et al — Francisville Commons 1, LLC)

. External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender.

| am Makenzie Meehan. | live across the street from Lil Ogden Park and have utilized this space since
moving here. It has created a safe space to meet new people, enjoy nature, and feel connected to my
community. We already have so little here in this community and if each green space we have gets filled

up with commerical real estate then that will cause sadness and misery. Please reconsider selling to
developers that don’t care about the community or environment.

Makenzie Meehan of Francisville

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 58 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 62 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 59 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 63 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 60 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 64 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 61 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 65 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 62 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 66 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 63 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 67 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 64 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 68 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 65 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 69 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 66 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 70 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 67 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 71 of 160



Exhibit E

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 68 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 72 of 160



Exhibit F
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 46

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF
1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 AND 1610 OGDEN STREET; 863 NORTH 15TH STREET;
AND 841, 845 AND 851 NORTH 16TH STREET TO
FRANCISVILLE COMMONS 1, LLC

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land
Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best
interests of the Land Bank to convey 1437, 1438, 1539, 1544, 1546 and 1610 Ogden Street; 863
North 15th Street; and 841, 845 and 851 North 16th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to
Francisville Commons 1, LLC (the “Purchaser”).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia
Land Bank that:

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Five Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars
($5,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval
by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-
404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each
hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver,
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction
Documents™) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable. The Transaction
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting
following the date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 69 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 73 of 160



Exhibit G

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 70 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 74 of 160



Exhibit G

Andrea Saah

From: Andrea Saah

Sent: Monday, November 17, 2025 5:27 PM
To: Andrea Saah

Subject: Fw: Parcel conveyance 1725 N 26th St

From: Noah <noahf mail.com:

Sent: Thursday, October 16, 2025 7:28 PM

To: Brian Romano <Brian.Romano@phdc.phila.gov>
Subject: Parcel conveyance 1725 N 26th St

External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender.

Hi Brian,

This past Tuesday | planned to go to the board meeting pertaining to the 20 parcels slated to be
developed on N 26th Street, Bailey Street, and the vicinity. | understand this issue will be discussed at
a meeting in the future. | intend to present this petition, signed by virtually everyone on the block, that
demands maintaining a green space where we currently have a community garden: 1725 N 26th St.

Please notify me when this issue will be discussed as | intend to present this document to the board
and represent allthose desperate to keep a small patch of green space on the block. Some of the
people who haven't signed the document have expressed interest in signing, so it'll likely have afew
more signatures by the time of the meeting.

Thankyou,

Noah Grossman 1735 N 26th St

Andrea Saah

From: Noah <noahfg@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, November 17, 2025 2:55 PM

To: Andrea Saah

Subject: Petition for green 1725 N 26th St

Attachments: 1000024331.jpg; 1000024330.jpg; 1000024329.jpg

~ External Email Notice. This email comes from outside of City government. Do not click on links or open
_attachments unless you recognize the sender.

Thanks for the heads up Andrea. Attaching here the petition documents. I'll be there tomorrow
representing all my neighbors on the block who all want to maintain the green space that we've been
designing and upkeeping for the last four years.

Noah

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 71 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 75 of 160



Exhibit G

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 72 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 76 of 160



Exhibit G

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 73 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 77 of 160



Exhibit G

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 74 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 78 of 160



Exhibit H
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 47

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF
1808, 1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837 AND 1838 NORTH BAILEY STREET; 2525 AND
2611 CECIL B. MOORE AVENUE; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749 AND 1832 NORTH 26TH STREET;
AND 1735, 1747 AND 1765 NORTH 27TH STREET TO NATION BUILDERS WFH, LLC

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of
Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of
the Land Bank to convey 1808, 1809, 1810, 1812, 1819, 1824, 1828, 1837 and 1838 North Bailey Street;
2525 and 2611 Cecil B. Moore Avenue; 1725, 1726, 1729, 1747, 1749 and 1832 North 26th Street; and
1735, 1747 and 1765 North 27th Street (collectively, the “Property”) to Nation Builders WFH, LLC (the
“Purchaser”).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land
Bank that:

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Ten Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars
($10,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by
resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby
authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents’) and, from time to time
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be
necessary or desirable. The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land
Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18. 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 75 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 79 of 160



Exhibit I

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 76 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 80 of 160



Exhibit I

maintaining adequate bedroom dimensions, functional basement utility and storage space, and a
design scale that respects both the block and the surrounding residents.

The proposal honors the architectural rhythm and social identity of North Etting Street,
embodying the community’s long-standing advocacy for guality over guantity and design that
enhances, rather than overwhelms, its residents and historic character.

Community Recommendation

Following the required public meeting held on Monday, September 29, 2023, Strawberry
Mansion Community Concern & RCO concludes that 17 newly built homeownership units are
the most appropriate and beneficial scale for this development.

We regard this project as an opportunity for restorative homeownership, enabling Etting Street
residents and neighbors to participate in the renewal of their own community while weleoming
new homeowners who share values of care and respect. This model promotes educational
exchange, civic pride, and neighborhood trust. It also offers and is essential to the mutual growth
of young people, a visible pathway and example of home ownership, stability, self-determination
collaboration, and hope, instead of cycles of transience, instability, neglect and poverty.

Traditionally, our organization uses the term “unopposed” in our recommendations; however,
this proposal warrants our full support, as it aligns with principles of equity, sound design, and
community preservation.

Accordingly, we recommend that the Land Bank Board convey the North Etting Street parcels to
The Prime Corporation, and we extend our best wishes for the successful completion of this
project under ongoing community partnership.

Conditions for Responsible Stewardship

Before closing, we encourage the Land Bank and PHDC to emphasize the following to all
prospective homeowners:
+ Commitment to property upkeep and maintenance;
¢ The “good neighbor” principle, fostering mutual respect among long-term and new
residents;
Proper trash management and environmental responsibility;
Participation in a homeowners’ association or community improvement group; and
Respect for the block’s preservation value and the dignity of pre-existing residents.

These measures are essential for maintaining the physical, social, and cultural integrity of the
North Etting Street area and ensuring that the Turn the Key initiative continues to be a model of
community-driven revitalization.

We appreciate your thoughtful consideration to support this recommendation of conveyance, and
we trust that both our support and our concerns will be reflected in the Board’s final decision.

Respectfully,

Bonita Cummings

Director

Strawberry Mansion Community Concern (SMCC) & RCO

2

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 77 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 81 of 160



Exhibit I

Councilmember Jeftery Young, Jr., City Council, 5th District

Conlan Crosley, Director of Development & Labor Relations, 5th District Otfice
Edward Pridgen, President, The Prime Corporation

Darren Coleman, Vice President, The Prime Corporation

AlTected RCOs & Organizations

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 78 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 82 of 160



Exhibit J
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 48

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF
1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853, 1854, 1861, 1862
AND 1866 NORTH ETTING STREET TO
NORTH ETTING COMMONS LLC

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of
Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of
the Land Bank to convey 1816, 1817, 1838, 1839, 1841, 1842, 1843, 1845, 1847, 1848, 1849, 1851, 1853,
1854, 1861, 1862 and 1866 North Etting Street (collectively, the “Property”) to North Etting Commons
LLC (the “Purchaser”).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land
Bank that:

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Seven Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars
($7,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by
resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby
authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be
necessary or desirable. The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land
Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 79 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 83 of 160



Exhibit K

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 80 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 84 of 160



Exhibit K

on the 2400 and 2500 blocks of Stanley Street, 2400 and 2600 blocks of Corlies Street. and the
2500, 2600, 2700, 2900, and 3000 blocks of Qakdale Street, the representatives from Civetta
Property Group, Mr. Michael Tomasetti (Principal) and Mr. Terrill Haigler (Community
Outreach Director), presented anotably different and respectlul approach.

Their design concept demonstrated thoughtlul consideration for maintaining the block height,
scale, and architectural character consistent with the surrounding homes. reflecting guality over
guantity and genuine sensitivity to community concerns. Importantly, Civetta Property Group
expressed a willingness to continue working collaboratively with residents throughout the
development process, including holding additional meetings to ensure equitable access to the
Turn the K ey program and providing support to help residents qualify for homeownership.

The virtual presentation was well received by attendees. One comment raised was the preference
for natural hardwood over laminate, as hardwood offers greater longevity and quality. This
feedback illustrates the community’s thoughtful engagement and the need for continued
collaboration around material choices and design details.

We regard this Turn the Key project involving 40 new homeownership opportunities as an
important step toward restorative homeownership, allowing long-term residents of Stanley,
Corlies, and Oakdale Streets to participate in the renewal of their own neighborhood while
welcoming new homeowners who share values of care, respect, and community investment.
Most importantly. it restores opportunities for voung families to establish stable homes and build
generational strength.

Traditionally, our organization uses the term “unopposed” in our recommendations; however,
this proposal warrants our full support, as it reflects principles of equity, sound design,
community preservation, and a continued partnership between the developer and community.

Accordingly, we recommend that the Land Bank Board eonvey the Strawberry Mansion
parcels, Stanley, Corlies, and Qakdale Streets, totaling approximately 40 lots, to Civetta
Property Gronp, and we extend our hest wishes for the successful and community-centered
completion of this project.

Before closing, we respectfully encourage the Land Bank and PIIDC to emphasize the following
expectations for all Zurn the Key prospective homeowners:
Commitment to ongoing property upkeep and maintenance;
The “good neighbor” principle—mutual respect between long-term and new residents;
Proper trash management and environmental responsibility;
Participation in a homeowners™ association or community improvement initiative; and
Respect for the preservation value and dignity of existing residents.

These measures are essential to maintaining the physical, social. and eultural integrity of the
Strawberry Mansion community and ensuring that the Turn the Key initiative continues as a
model for community-driven revitalization in Philadelphia.

We appreciate vour thoughtful consideration of this recommendation for conveyance and trust
that both our support and our guiding principles will be reflected in the Board’s final decision.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 81 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 85 of 160



Exhibit K

Respectfully,

Bonita Cummings

Director

Strawberry Mansion Community Concern (SMCC) & RCO

Ce:
Councilmember Jeffery Young. Jr., City Council, 5th District
Conlan Crosley, Director of Development & Labor Relations, 3th District Office
Michael Tomasetti Principal, Civetta Property Group
Terrill Haigler, Community Qutreach Director, Civetta Property Group
Affected RCOs & Organizations

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 82 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 86 of 160



Exhibit L
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 49

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF
2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 AND 2651 NORTH CORLIES STREET; 2519, 2600, 2603, 2611,
2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 AND 3039 WEST OAKDALE STREET; 2423, 2425,
2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 AND 2567
NORTH STANLEY STREET TO CIVETTA PROPERTY GROUP LLC

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of
Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of
the Land Bank to convey 2420, 2438, 2442, 2456, 2648, 2650 and 2651 North Corlies Street; 2519, 2600,
2603, 2611, 2640, 2931, 2935, 3019, 3021, 3027, 3029, 3031 and 3039 West Oakdale Street; 2423, 2425,
2437, 2446, 2501, 2502, 2504, 2505, 2506, 2513, 2516, 2517, 2526, 2529, 2539, 2542, 2556 and 2567 North
Stanley Street (collectively, the “Property”) to Civetta Property Group LLC (the “Purchaser”).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land
Bank that:

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Three Thousand Eight Hundred and 00/100 U.S.
Dollars ($3,800.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval
by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby
authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform any
and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate the
conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time and at any
time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or
desirable. The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall
contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the Land Bank
shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 83 of 94
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 87 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 84 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 88 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 85 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 89 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 86 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 90 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 87 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 91 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 88 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 92 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 89 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 93 of 160



Exhibit M

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 90 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 94 of 160



Exhibit M

11/17/2025
V. Property Dispositions
B. Development - Affordable Housing (unsolicited)

3. Civetta Property Group LLC

Dear Philadelphia Land Bank Board,

As a resident of the 2300 block of N. Lawrence Street, | strongly support the proposed
workforce housing development on our block. These vacant lots have long been sites of
illegal dumping and blight. Turning them into affordable, well-maintained homes would
improve the neighborhood for everyone.

More importantly, in today’s market, homeownership is increasingly out of reach for
working-class Philadelphians and first-time homebuyers. This project offers a rare
chance to provide truly affordable housing for families who live and work here, helping
them build stability and generational wealth without displacing existing neighbors.

Approving this development is a concrete way to strengthen West Kensington, support
working families, and put vacant land to productive, community-serving use. | urge you
to vote in favor of this development project.

Thank you,

Logan McCurry
2300 Block of N. Lawrence Street
Philadelphia, PA

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 91 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 95 of 160



Exhibit N

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 92 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 96 of 160



Exhibit O
RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 50

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF
2758-60 AND 2762 HELEN STREET TO
BY FAITH ETERNAL HEALTH CARE

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of
Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of
the Land Bank to convey 2758-60 Helen Street and 2782 Helen Street (collectively, the “Property”) to By
Faith Eternal Health Care (the “Purchaser”).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land
Bank that:

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Two and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($2.00) and a
mortgage in the amount of One Hundred Twenty-One Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Eight and
00/100 U.S. Dollars ($121,998.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved,
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby
authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be
necessary or desirable. The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land
Bank.

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 93 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 97 of 160



Exhibit P

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 51
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF
2726 NORTH 15TH STREET TO
MAURICE L. HAMMOND

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank (the
“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of
Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of
the Land Bank to convey 2726 North 15th Street (the “Property”) to Maurice L. Hammond (the
“Purchaser”).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land
Bank that:

6. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) and a
mortgage of Nineteen Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Nine and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($19,999.00) is in

the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of
Philadelphia City Council.

7. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.

8. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby
authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time
and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be
necessary or desirable. The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land
Bank.

9. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the
date of such modifications.

10. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on November 18, 2025.

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for November 18, 2025 Page 94 of 94

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 98 of 160





